Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells Contribute to the Spatio-temporal Distribution of Megakaryocytes in the Bone Marrow

Dissertation von Jutta Weitz

Aus der Medizinischen Klinik und Poliklinik I Klinik der Universität München Direktor: Prof. Dr. Steffen Massberg

Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells Contribute to the Spatio-temporal Distribution of Megakaryocytes in the Bone Marrow

Dissertation zum Erwerb des Doktorgrades der Medizin an der Medizinischen Fakultät der Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität zu München

> vorgelegt von Jutta Weitz

> > aus Stuttgart

> > > Jahr 2024

Mit Genehmigung der Medizinischen Fakultät der Universität München

Berichterstatter:	Prof. Dr. med. Christian Schulz
Mitberichtserstatter:	PD Dr. Philipp von Hundelshausen
Mitberichtserstatter:	PD Dr. Lisa Gross
Mitbetreuung durch den promovierten Mitarbeiter:	Dr. rer. nat. Hellen Ishikawa-Ankerhold
Dekan:	Prof. Dr. Thomas Gudermann
Tag der mündlichen Prüfung:	14.11.2024

Eidesstattliche Versicherung

Jutta Weitz

Ich erkläre hiermit an Eides statt,

dass ich die vorliegende Dissertation mit dem Titel

Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells Contribute to the Spatio-temporal Distribution of Megakaryocytes in the Bone Marrow

selbstständig verfasst, mich außer der angegebenen keiner weiteren Hilfsmittel bedient und alle Erkenntnisse, die aus dem Schrifttum ganz oder annähernd übernommen sind, als solche kenntlich gemacht und nach ihrer Herkunft unter Bezeichnung der Fundstelle einzeln nachgewiesen habe.

Ich erkläre des Weiteren, dass die hier vorgelegte Dissertation nicht in gleicher oder in ähnlicher Form bei einer anderen Stelle zur Erlangung eines akademischen Grades eingereicht wurde.

München, November 22, 2024

Jutta Weitz

Contents

1	1 Abstract		
2	2 Introduction		
3	Scie	ntific background	5
	3.1	Megakaryocytes	5
		3.1.1 Megakaryopoiesis	5
		3.1.2 Spatio-temporal distribution of megakaryocytes and their progenitors	7
		3.1.3 Regulation of the megakaryopoiesis	8
		3.1.4 Thrombopoeisis \ldots	9
		3.1.5 Changes in megakaryopoiesis under platelet depletion	9
	3.2	Plasmacytoid dendritic cells	10
		3.2.1 The development of pDCs	10
		3.2.2 The function of pDCs	11
4	Mat	erials and Methods	15
	4.1	Mice	15
	4.2	Reagents and Antibodies	15
	4.3	Whole-mount immunofluorescence staining	16
	4.4	Fluorescent Activated Cell Sorting	18
5	Res	ults	21
	5.1	Characterization of MK/MKP numbers and pDC-MK/MKP interactions $% \mathcal{M}^{(1)}$.	21
	5.2	MK and MKPs numbers under pDC depletion	25
	5.3	Distribution of MKs and MKPs under pDC depletion	28
	5.4	Distribution of MKs and MKPs under IFN α treatment \hdots	31
6	Disc	cussion	35
	6.1	Résumé	35

	6.2 Discussion of the results	35
	6.3 Limitations of the study	37
7	Summary and Outlook	39
	7.1 Summary	39
	7.2 Outlook	40
8	Zusammenfassung	41
Ac	knowledgements	53

List of Figures

- 3.1 Illustration of megakaryopoiesis, taken from Haas *et al.* [1]. This scheme illustrates the different steps of megakaryopoiesis and the migration of the mature MK towards the vasculature for the release of platelets. MK = megakaryocyte; HSC = hematopoietic stem cell; SL-MKP = stem cell-like MKP; MPP = multipotent progenitor; CMP = common myeloid progenitor; CLP = common lymphoid progenitor; MEP = megakaryocytic-erythrocytic progenitor.
- 4.1 Example of a whole mount bone marrow staining. (a) shows the CD41 staining, which labels MKs and MKPs. (b) shows the CD42d staining, which is enriched on MKs. (c) shows the CD144 staining, which labels the endothelial cells of the vessels. (d) shows the HOECHST staining, which labels all nuclei. (e) shows all channels merged. The yellow arrow indicates MKPs, the white arrow indicates MKs. MKPs are smaller, rounder and have less cytoplasm than MKs. MKPs express less CD42d (CD42d-low) than MKs (CD42d-high). The scale bar is 20 µm.
- 4.2 Example of a whole mount bone marrow staining. CD41 (green) labels MKs and MKPs, CD144 (grey) labels the vessels and HOECHST (blue) labels all nuclei. The red arrows point at the MKPs. The white bars show how the distances were measured for each cell. The scale bar is 20 µm.

17

22

- 5.1 Characterization of MK and MKP numbers in the bone marrow.
 (a) MK numbers in the bone marrow. (b) MKP numbers in the bone marrow. The cells were counted in 3 tibias and 3 sterna of C57Bl/6J mice, with 10 images per bone. Statistics were done using the unpaired t-test. Mean + SD.
- 5.2 pDCs interacting with MKs in the bone marrow: representative whole mount bone marrow staining of a SiglecH-GFP tibia with 20x magnification. CD41 (red) labels MKs and MKPs, Siglec H-GFP (green) labels the pDCs and HOECHST (blue) labels all nuclei. (a) Overview with multiple MK/pDC interactions. (b) Close-up of one MK interacting with 3 pDCs.
 (c) Close-up of one MK interacting with 1 pDC. The scale bar is 20 µm. . 23
- 5.4 Percentage of MKs and MKPs interacting with pDCs in steady state. The blue section corresponds to no MK or MKP/pDC interaction, the yellow section corresponds to MK/MKP interactions with 1 pDC, the orange section corresponds to MK/MKP interactions with 2 pDCs and the red section corresponds to MK/MKP interactions with 3 pDCs. (a) Percentage of MKs interacting with 1,2 or 3 pDCs. (b) Percentage of MKPs interacting with 1,2 or 3 pDCs. The data is pooled from 3 mice, and obtained by manual quantification of whole mount bone marrow stainings, with 10 pictures per mouse.

5.5	Comparison of MK and MKP frequency under steady state and
	under pDC depletion. (a) Percentage of $CD41 + CD42$ high cells, equiva-
	lent to MKs (b) Percentage of CD41+ CD42 low cells, equivalent to MKPs.
	Data was obtained by FACS analysis with anti-CD41- and anti-CD42d an-
	tibodies, as described in Table 5.1. Statistics were done using the unpaired
	t-test. Mean + SD. \ldots

- 5.6 Comparison of MK and MKP numbers in steady state and after pDC Depletion. (a) Number of MKs. (b) Number of MKPs. Data obtained by manual quantification of whole mount bone marrow stainings with anti-CD41- and anti-CD42d-antibodies. The data is pooled from 3 mice with 10 images each. Statistics were done using the unpaired t-test. The p-value is 0.0035 for the MKs (**) and 0.0160 for MKPs (*). Mean + SD 27
- 5.7 MK ploidy in steady state and after pDC depletion. The data was obtained by FACS analysis from 3 control and 3 pDC depleted mice, stained with anti-CD41- and anti-PI-antibodies. Statistics were done using multiple t-tests. The p-values were 0.002922 for 2N, 0.000291 for 4N, 0.001546 for 8N, 0.017327 for 16N, 0.000327 for 32N and 0.003058 for 64N. Mean + SD. 28

5.10	Number of MKs and MKPs in steady state and after 4h IFN α			
	treatment. (a) Number of MKs. (b) Number of MKPs. The data is pooled			
	from 3 control and 3 treated mice, with 10 images per bone, and obtained			
	by cell counting from whole mount bone marrow stainings with anti-CD41			
	and anti-CD42d antibodies. Statistics were done using the unpaired t-test.			
	$Mean + SD. \dots \dots$	32		
5.11	Distance of MKs and MKPs to the vasculature in steady state			
	and after 4h IFN α treatment. (a) MK distances to the vasculature. (b)			
	MKP distances to the vasculature. The data is pooled from 3 control and 3 $$			
	treated mice and obtained by cell counting from whole mount bone marrow			
	stainings with anti-CD41, CD42d, and CD144 antibodies. Statistics were			
	done using the unpaired t-test. Mean + SD. \ldots	33		

List of Abbreviations

BDCA2 blood dendritic cell antigen 2

BMP4 bone morphogenic protein 4

BSA bovine serum albumin

BST2 bone marrow stromal antigen 2, also known as tetherin

c-mpl thrombopoietin receptor

CDC common dendritic cell progenitor

 ${\bf cDC}\,$ common dendritic cell

CLP common lymphoid progenitor

CMP common myeloid progenitor

CXCR4 C-X-C chemokine receptor type 4

DMS demarcation membrane system

 $\ensuremath{\mathsf{ECM}}$ extracellular matrix

 $\ensuremath{\mathsf{EPO}}$ erythropoietin

FLT3L FMS-like tyrosine kinase 3 ligand

 $\label{eq:GM-CSF} GM\text{-}CSF \ {\rm granulocyte-macrophage \ colony-stimulating \ factor}$

 $\ensuremath{\text{HSC}}$ hematopoietic stem cell

 ${\sf IFN} \ {\rm Interferon}$

IL interleukin
IRF7 Interferon regulatory factor 7
M-CSF macrophage colony stimulating factor
MEP megakaryocytic-erythrocytic progenitor
MHC II major histocompatibility complex II
MK megakaryocyte
MKP megakaryocyte progenitor
MPP multipotent progenitor
PACAP Pituitary adenylate cyclase-activating polypeptide
PBS phosphate-buffered saline
pDC plasmacytoid dendritic cell
PECAM platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule
PF4 platelet factor 4
PFA paraformaldehyde
SCF stem cell factor
SDF-1 stromal cell-derived factor 1
TLR toll like receptor
TPO thrombopoietin
VIP Vasoactive intestinal peptide
\mathbf{vWF} von-Willebrand factor

1 Abstract

Megakaryopoiesis describes the maturation from haematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) to megakaryocytes (MKs). Megakaryocytes are large and scarce cells in the bone marrow which produce platelets. The production of platelets is achieved by fragmentation of the MK cytoplasm, which ultimately leads to MK apoptosis. Multiple studies have studied megakaryopoiesis, all trying to elucidate responsible factors for the differentiation and maturation of HSCs. This works aims to investigate the role of plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDCs) in the regulation of megakaryopoiesis.

Cell quantification of pDCs, megakaryocytes and megakaryocyte progenitors (MKPs) in the bone marrow was performed by confocal microscopy and fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS). Confocal microscopy was also used to characterize the cell-to-cell interactions between pDCs and MKs or MKPs, as well as the spatial distribution of these cells in the bone marrow.

We observed a high number of pDC-MK interactions in the bone marrow of untreated mice. Next, pDCs were ablated in genetically modified mice, pDC-DTR, using the diphtheria toxin. Here, the number of MKs and MKPs significantly decreased after 3 days of pDC depletion. In addition, the recruitment of MKs and MKPs towards the vasculature – which is necessary for platelet production – was impaired and the remaining population of MKs showed an increased ploidy, suggesting that they were older than the MKs in steady state. Together, these results indicate that pDCs may influence the maturation and migration of MKs and MKPs towards the vascular niche.

We hypothesize that pDCs can sense the apoptotic MKs at the end of their plateletproducing-life and induce MKP proliferation in order to replace the dying MKs. Since pDCs are the major producer of interferon α (IFN α), treatment with IFN α was used to investigate its possible role in the signaling between pDCs and MKPs. In our experiment, this treatment showed no effect on the number and the distribution of MKs and MKPs in our experiment. However, due to the limitations os our setup, the role of IFN α in megakaryopoiesis remains to be clarified.

2 Introduction

This study investigated the interaction between plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDCs) and megakaryocytes (MKs) in the murine bone marrow. pDCs constitue a special subset of dendritic cells, found in the peripheral tissue and in the bone marrow, where they originate. They are part of the innate, as well as the adaptive immune system. Their main function is the detection of viral or bacterial DNA or RNA and in consequence, the secretion of type I interferon α (IFN α) via the Myd88/IRLF pathway [2]. MKs main characteristics are their size and polyploidy, which allows them to generate approximately 3000 platelets each [3]. The maturation and differentiation of megakaryocyte progenitor cells (MKPs) into MKs is called megakaryopoiesis. This process is closely regulated in order to maintain platelet homeostasis. The main regulator of megakaryopoiesis is thrombopoietin (TPO), however, it is known that multiple other cytokines can also influence megakaryopoiesis [4, 5].

This study aims to understand the role of pDCs in megakaryopoiesis, more precisely on the spatial distribution of MKs and MKPs. Murine bone marrow stainings were used to observe and quantify the interactions between pDCs and MKs or MKPs. The whole mount bone marrow stainings allowed us to preserve the morphology of the bone marrow and therefore to observe the spatial distribution of the cells in relation to the vasculature. By using genetically modified mice, we were able to study the spatial distribution of MKs and MKPs under various conditions. Fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS) was used to confirm the manual cell countings after pDC depletion.

In chapter 3, the scientific background about pDCs and MKs will be described in more detail: their functions, their formation and the regulation of their maturation. In chapter 4, the used materials and the process of the whole mount bone marrow staining will be described, as well as the FACS analysis. The results of each experiment will be explained in chapter 5. Finally, the results will be interpreted and put into context in chapter 6. The dissertation will finish with an outlook about the topics which would be worth investigating in the future.

3 Scientific background

3.1 Megakaryocytes

When injury occurs, the bleeding will only stop when a clot is formed by platelet activation and coagulation. Platelets are small cytoplasmic fragments which circulate in the blood and carry different platelet granules with clotting mediators. They are one of the main actors in preventing bleeding by forming thrombi or clots (synonyms). But this is not their only role in mammals: they are also involved in the process of inflammation, in the innate immunity, neoangionesis and tumor metastasis [6, 7]. Understanding the regulation and the formation of platelets is an important step for the maintenance of human health. Platelets are produced by megakaryocytes. Megakaryocytes are very large (20-100 µm), polyploidic, and rare cells (ca. 0.01% of all nucleated bone marrow cells) found in the bone marrow. [8]. Megakaryocytes produce approximately 3000 platelets each by releasing 100- $500 \,\mu\mathrm{m}$ long cytoplasmic extensions, called proplatelets, into the bloodstream [3]. These proplatelets are then fragmented in small pieces called platelets [9]. There is evidence that the final platelets shedding occurs in part in the lung vasculature, where the turbulences at the bifurcations favor mechanical fragmentation of proplatelets [10]. In the bone marrow, billions of cells of different cell types form not only the anatomic structure, but also the ideal habitat secreting many different kinds of cytokines and chemokines that regulate quiescence, differentiation and proliferation of the hematopoietic stem cells (HSC). This area is located close to the endosteum and is therefore called the endosteal or osteoblastic niche [11].

3.1.1 Megakaryopoiesis

The traditional concept of megakaryopoiesis starts with a long-term HSC, which looses quiescence and becomes a short-term HSC. These HSC are self-renewal and pluripotent cells, which can develop into any type of blood cell. The short-term HSC differentiates into a multipotent progenitor (MPP). Hematopoiesis then bifurcates into the myeloid and the lymphoid lineage: MPPs can develop either into a common myeloid progenitor (CMP) or a common lymphoid progenitor (CLP). As MKs derive from the myeloid lineage, the CMP then becomes a megakaryocytic-erythrocytic progenitor (MEP) which possesses both thrombopoietin receptor or myeloproliferative leukemia protein c-mpl and erythropoietin receptors. MEP differentiate into megakaryocyte progenitors (MKPs) which finally become mature MKs. The terminal differentiation into MKs include the synthesis of specific platelet proteins, such as lysosomes, dense and alpha granules, the demarcation membrane system; and endomitosis. Endomitosis, which is actually mitosis with failure of the late cytokinesis [12, 13], leads to polyploidy. As the cytoplasm volume increases proportionally to the ploidy, polyploidy is believed to be a way to increase platelet production and metabolic pathways. Although endomitosis can stop at any level, ploidy in MKs can reach up to 128N, meaning 128 complete chromosome sets [14, 15].

However, this is a very long process and does not provide an explanation for rapid MK maturation during inflammation or acute blood loss. Various studies have proposed different explanations for faster MK development. In 2013, Sanjuan-Pla *et al.* have described platelet-biased stem cells, which express von-Willebrand factor vWF and are at the apex of HSC hierarchy. These cells are able to produce significantly more platelets than vWF-stem cells [16]. In addition, Haas *et al.* described stem cell-like MKP. These cells are as quiescent as HSCs but can differentiate more quickly when activated during acute platelet demand [1]. Fig. 3.1 illustrates the traditional concept of megakaryopoesis, as well as the stem cell-like MKPs. Altogether, these studies give us a better insight in the process of megakaryopoiesis, while its details remain to be completely understood.



Figure 3.1: Illustration of megakaryopoiesis, taken from Haas *et al.* [1]. This scheme illustrates the different steps of megakaryopoiesis and the migration of the mature MK towards the vasculature for the release of platelets. MK = megakaryocyte; HSC = hematopoietic stem cell; SL-MKP = stem cell-like MKP; MPP = multipotent progenitor; CMP = common myeloid progenitor; CLP = common lymphoid progenitor; MEP = megakaryocytic-erythrocytic progenitor.

3.1.2 Spatio-temporal distribution of megakaryocytes and their progenitors

While HSC are located in the osteoblastic niche, close to the endosteum, mature MKs are located in the vascular niche, where the release of platelets into the vessels occurs. The proximity to the vasculature is also due to the need of oxygen, as a low-oxygen environment inhibits the maturation and formation of proplatelets [17]. MKs were thought to mature at the osteoblastic niche and then migrate towards the vasculature to form proplatelets [18]. Recently, another study could observe that only MKP migrate, whereas mature MK remain immobile close to the vessels. Fu and colleagues found out that there are non-motile and motile MKPs, which show a displacement towards the vessels. While non-motile MKPs grow constantly, motile MKPs are smaller and remain the same size. These data show that the maturation from MKPs to MKs takes place locally in situ [19].

3.1.3 Regulation of the megakaryopoiesis

The regulation of megakaryopoiesis is complex, with many different factors that need to be considered. There are intra- and extracellular mechanisms involved. Thrombopoietin (TPO) is the key protein to regulate MK development [20, 21]. TPO is produced in the liver parenchymal cells and binds to c-mpl, which induces gene transcription enhancing MK proliferation and maturation. Geddis *et al.* observed in 2002 that after TPO treatment, the size, number and ploidy of MK was increased, in addition to elevated platelet levels [4]. TPO also binds to c-mpl on platelets and is degraded in the circulation. A platelet loss leads to less elimination and therefore increased levels of TPO and thus stimulates MKP proliferation and maturation [22]. TPO is also necessary for the survival of HSC, together with IL-3 and SCF [23]. However, TPO does not directly affects proplatelet formation by MKs, it mainly influences MKP proliferation [24, 25].

Besides TPO, there are also other cytokines that seem to influence megakaryopoiesis. For example, interleukines such as IL-6, IL-3, IL-11 and SCF also affect MKP differentiation in vitro. However, they seem to play a weak role in vivo. Erythropoietin (EPO) does also affect platelet formation, the specific role of EPO still remains unknown [14, 5]. Another player is stromal cell-derived factor 1 (SDF-1) and its receptor CXC chemokine receptor type 4 (CXCR4). SDF-1 is produced by stromal, endothelial and dendritic cells in the bone marrow, as well as by MKs themselves. This cytokine may induce endomitosis and proplatelet formation through Ras homolog family member A (RhoA) inactivation [26]. The RhoA GTPase is part of a signaling pathway which regulates actin polymerization and myosin activation. The migration of MKPs towards the vasculature during maturation plays another major role in this process. This seems to be linked to the chemoattraction of MKP and towards endothelial cells and the contact of both cells [27]. The platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule (PECAM) is also indispensable for the MKP migration [28]. Despite their high CXCR4 expression, MKs react poorly to SDF-1 [29, 30]. After inflammation or an acute blood loss, the responsiveness of MK or MKP to SDF-1 can be regulated by cleavage fragments of the third complement component (C3a and des-ArgC3a) [31]. There is also evidence that bone morphogenic protein 4 (BMP4) and Interferon γ can promote MKP differentiation, whereas $IFN\alpha$, Pituitary adenylate cyclase-activating polypeptide (PACAP), vasoactive intestinal polypeptide (VIP) and platelet factor 4 (PF4) have been shown to inhibit it.

During the migration of MKP from the osteoblastic towards the vascular niche, they are influenced by the extracellular matrix (ECM) and the stroma surrounding them. For example, collagen type I, which is found in the osteoblastic niche, inhibits platelet formation. Other components of the ECM, which are found in the vascular niche, such as collagen type IV, fibronectin, laminin, fibrinogen and vWF are known to upregulate platelet production [32, 33, 34].

3.1.4 Thrombopoeisis

After completing the maturation process, MKs start to form long cytoplasmic extensions called proplatelets. These then disassemble into platelets which are packed with the granules and proteins from the former MK cytoplasm [35]. There are three principal molekular components involved in the formation of platelets. The demarcation membrane system (DMS) functions as a reservoir of membrane, β 1-tubulin [36] as part of the cytoskeleton and Rho GTPases, which regulate platelet formation. The MKs remain with their multilobed nucleus until the entire cytoplasm has fragmented and become platelets. When only a rim of cytoplasm remains, MK become apoptotic and are phagocytosed by macrophages [37]. While it is commonly agreed that MKs possess an extrinsic and intrinsic apoptotic pathway and that their apoptosis follows the intrinsic pathway, recent studies have found out that apoptosis is dispensable for platelets. The role of apoptosis in platelet shredding thus remains unclear.

3.1.5 Changes in megakaryopoiesis under platelet depletion

Another study done by Fu *et al.* looked at the changes in megakaryopoiesis under platelet depletion. As the number of MKs remains constant after platelet depletion, they were interested in the mechanism of urgent MK maturation. The acute platelet loss indeed led to an increased loss of cytoplasm in MKs. They could observe that the number of MKP increases after platelet depletion, as well as the fraction of MKPs close to the vasculature. Direct TPO treatment led to similar numbers of MKPs and even higher numbers of MKs. However, after MK depletion, the numbers of MKPs increases but without an increased association with the vessels [19].

3.2 Plasmacytoid dendritic cells

Plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDCs) are a special subset of dendritic cells and where first described in humans in 1950 [41] and identified in mice in 2001 [42]. Since then, they have become the subject of multiple studies examining their role in the immune responses against infection, inflammation and tumor progression. The development and the function of pDCs have aspects of both the adaptive and the innate immune system. The main role of pDCs is the secretion of IFN α and other cytokines in response to an acute viral infection [2]. But it has been shown that they also play a part in the pathogenesis of auto-immune diseases, cancer tolerance and the chronicity of the HIV infection [43].

3.2.1 The development of pDCs

Plasmacytoid dendritic cells develop in the bone marrow before they reach peripheral tissues, such as the thymus, through the blood stream. Traditionally, pDCs are believed to originate from the myeloid lineage, more precisely from a common DC progenitor (CDC), which also generates common dendritic cells (cDC). Onai *et al.* identified a clonogenic progenitor downstream of CDC [44]. This progenitor expresses high level of transcription factor E2-2, which is characteristic for the pDC lineage. After exposure to macrophage colony stimulating factor (M-CSF) and TPO, E2-2 is upregulated and leads to the differentiation of the progenitor cell to a pDC. [45]. However, pDCs can also derive from the lymphoid lineage. Even if lymphoid and myeloid pDCs may differ, both are able to activate lymphoid-specific genetic programs [46].

There are many factors involved in the regulation of pDC development. The most important factor is FMS-like tyrosine kinase 3 ligand (FLT3L), which is crucial for pDC generation [47]. Besides FLT3L, type I IFN and M-CSF also support pDC development [48, 49]. In contrast, granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) inhibits pDC development [50, 51].

3.2.2 The function of pDCs

Sensing of pathogens

The main role of pDCs is the recognition of viral deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) or ribonucleic acid (RNA) via their Toll-like receptors (TLR) 7 and 9, respectively. TLR7 senses RNA, whereas TLR9 senses viral and endogenous DNA. Their activation leads to the secretion of IFN α and other pro-inflammatory cytokines [2]. The uptake of the viral nucleic acids is a mechanism independent of a viral infection. Although the detailed mechanisms are yet to be completely understood, there is evidence that some viruses are bound by antibodies and taken up through fragment crystallizable region (Fc) receptors. There are inhibitory Fc receptors, activated during a memory response [52], and activating Fc receptors, which will induce IFN_α production. These activating Fc receptors can bind endogenous DNA and thus probably have a part in autoimmune diseases, for example systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) [53]. The production of IFN α or other pro-inflammatory cytokines is regulated by the compartment in which the nucleic acids are detected. For instance, viral DNA or RNA which is detected in endosomes will activate the myeloid differentiation primary response 88 (Myd88)/interferon regulatory factor 7 (IRF7) pathway, which leads to IFN α secretion. If it is detected in the endolysosomes, it will activate the NF- κ B pathway and induce the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines [54, 55]. Besides TLR7 and TLR9, pDCs can also express TLR2 and TLR12 which can detect *Toxoplasma qondii* profilin [56] and bacterial polysaccharide A [57]. Although the TLRs seem to be the most important receptors in the anti-viral function of pDCs, other cytosolic nucleic acid receptors have just begun to be explored. For example, retinoic acid-inducible gene I (RIG-I) can detect the production of viral nucleic acid when the cell has been infected [58].

Source of IFNa

As described above, the main role of pDCs is the time-limited and amplitude-limited secretion of IFN α in response to a viral infection [59]. This IFN α secretion is very important at the beginning of the infection, especially when the virus reaches the circulation. During a local infection, pDCs only are involved if the local immune response does not resolve the virosis. An example is the Newcastle disease virus, which causes a pulmonary infection. In the lung, IFN α is mainly produced by alveolar macrophages. pDCS will be only involved when the macrophages are eliminated [60]. However, the IFN α production of pDCs may not always be beneficial. Especially during chronic viral infections, such as an HIV-infection,

a dysregulated activity of pDCs could contribute to the chronicity of the infection [43]. A study from 2014 also found that excessive IFN α production, for example in response to the influenza virus, can lead to uncontrolled inflammation and apoptosis of bronchial epithelium [61].

pDCs as antigen presenting cells

Although pDCs are commonly known for their role in the innate anti-viral immunity, recent studies have discovered that pDCs also have antigen-presenting properties. The expression of major histocompatibility complex II (MHC II) molecules and the co-stimulatory receptors CD40, CD80 and CD86 give pDCs the ability to present antigens to CD40⁺ cells, although not as effective as cDCs [62, 63]. Depending on the context, this presentation can either lead to an immune response or induce tolerance. When pDCs are activated via TLR, they will act as immunogenic. If they are unstimulated or activated through other receptors, they can promote tolerance, for example to tumor cells, alloantigens or harmless antigens. However, the role of pDCs in tolerance induction and its precise mechanisms are not yet completely understood. There have been some studies which explored the reaction of pDCs to activation through different receptors. On one hand, targeting antigens through blood dendritic cell antigen 2 (BDCA2) suppresses antigen-specific CD4⁺ T-cell response upon 2^{nd} exposure and therefore promotes immunological tolerance [64]. On the other hand, targeting bone marrow stromal antigen 2 (BST2) with TLR agonists results in a protective immunity, mediated by T-cells [65]. The function of pDCs as a link between innate and adaptive immunity, contributing to induction and inhibition of an immune response, is very complex and has just begun to be explored.

Contribution of pDCs to different diseases

There is evidence that pDCs contribute to autoimmune diseases [66], such as systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) [67], psoriasis [68, 69, 70] or type I diabetes [71]. In SLE, the antinuclear antibodies form immune complexes with endogenous DNA and can thus activate pDCs via TLR7 or TLR9. From this point of view, it is not surprising to find elevated IFN α levels in the blood of SLE patients. Depletion of pDCs blocks their abilities to produce IFN and could represent an option of treatment [72]. It would be crucial to know which other consequences the depletion of pDCs can promote. But not only SLE comes with an IFN α signature, it also seems to play a role in tuberculosis as the expression of the IFN α inducible transcripts correlates with the severity of the disease [73]. Last, but not least, pDCs also contribute to the progression of some cancers. Indeed, a high number of pDCs is found in the microenvironment of some tumors. These pDCs seem to be tolerogenic rather than immunogenic, which probably leads to the poor prognosis associated with the pDC recruitment. In 2004, Treilleux *et al.* studied the possible contribution of pDCs to breast cancer [51] and a similar study was performed in 2011 on ovarian cancer [74]. Recently, pDCs have also gained importance in cancer immunotherapy with clinical trials on pDC-based cancer vaccines [75].

4 Materials and Methods

4.1 Mice

Wildtype mice (C57BL/6J) were pursued from The Jackson Laboratory. Genetically modified mice with the possibility to deplete pDCs (BDCA2-DTR, Strain 014176) were purchased from the Jackson Laboratory. Mice with green fluorescend protein (GFP) labelled pDCs (SiglecH-GFP) were bred at the Biomedical Center (BMC) and at the Walter-Brendel-Centre for experimental medicine, and kindly provided by Dr. Marco Colona and Dr. Susanne Stutte.

4.2 Reagents and Antibodies

Dipheria toxin was used to deplete pDCs in the pDC-DTR mice. 250ng/25g ml were injected i.p. over 3 consecutive days. For platelet depletion, we used 100 µl of anti-GPIb antibody (R300) per mouse and its negative control, non-immune rat antibodies (C301), also with a dose of 100 µl per mouse, both purchased from emfret analytics. After 12 hours of antibody injection, the mice were sacrificed. HOECHST, anti-GFP Antibody (A-11122), anti CD144 Antibody (16-1441-85) and the secondary antibodies goat anti-rat AF647 (A-21247), goat anti-rabbit AF488 (A-11034) and goat anti-rat AF594 (A-11007) were purchased from Invitrogen Life Technologies, BD Biosciences (Allschwil, Switzerland), or eBioscience (Vienna, Austria). CD41-FITC antibody (133904), anti-CD42d antibody (148502), and anti CD41 purified antibody (133901) were purchased from BioLegend (San Diego, US). The goat anti-armenian hamster AF647 secondary antibody (ab173004) was purchased from abcam.

4.3 Whole-mount immunofluorescence staining

First, sedation of the mice was performed using Isoflurane. The mice were then killed by cervical displacement. Sternum, humerus, femur and tibia were harvested and fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) at room temperature (RT) for 30 min. After this, the bones were incubated with 15% sucrose for 2h at 4°C, followed by 30% sucrose overnight at 4°C. On the following day, the bones were ingrained in Tissue-Tek® O.C.T. Compound (Sakura) and frozen on dry ice. The samples were stored at -80°C. For staining, the samples were first cut on Histo Serve NX70 Cryostat (Epredia) until the myeloid tissue was fully revealed. The samples were blocked and permeabilized with 10% Normal Goat Serum (Thermo Fisher Scientific) and 0.5% Triton X-100 (Sigma-Alrich) for 45 min RT and then blocked with 10% Normal Goat Serum overnight at 4°C. The first antibody was diluted 1:100 with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS); incubation was done overnight at 4°C. After incubation, the bones were washed 3x with PBS before beeing incubated with the secondary antibody (1:100 dilution) for 2 h at RT. If using a conjugated antibody, the bones were directly incubated with the conjugated antibody (1:100 dilution) overnight at 4°C. HOECHST was used to label the nuclei (1:1000 dilution). CD41-FITC or -PE and CD42d (hamster) combined with goat anti-hamster AF 647 were used to label MKs and MKPs. CD144 (rat) combined with goat anti-rat AF 594 was used to label the endothelial cells in the vessels. Anti-GFP (rabbit) was used to amplify the GFP signal from the bones of the SiglecH-GFP mice. For the imaging, LSM 880 confocal microscope with Airyscan module (Zeiss) was used with excitation wavelengths of 633 nm, 561 nm, 488 nm and 405 nm. The images were acquired with a 20x magnification objective and analyzed manually using the ZEN blue software. For each bone, the MKs and MKPs and either their distances to the vasculature or their interactions with pDCs were quantified on 10 images (Area = 455 nmx 455 nm; Depth = $15-20 \,\mu\text{m}$, $1.5 \,\mu\text{m}$ step size). MKs and MKPs were differentiated by the staining, the size, and the shape of the cell and the number of nuclei. MKPs express higher CD41 levels, whereas mature MKs express lower CD41 and higher CD42 levels. MKPs are smaller than 20 µm, have only one nucleus and have less cytoplasm than MKs. These criteria were adopted in order to differentiate between MKs and MKPs, and to measure the distances from MKs and MKPs to the vasculature. Fig.4.1 shows the staining used to differentiate between MKs and MKPs. Fig.4.2 shows the adopted technique to measure the distances between MKs/MKPs and the vasculature.



Figure 4.1: Example of a whole mount bone marrow staining. (a) shows the CD41 staining, which labels MKs and MKPs. (b) shows the CD42d staining, which is enriched on MKs. (c) shows the CD144 staining, which labels the endothelial cells of the vessels. (d) shows the HOECHST staining, which labels all nuclei. (e) shows all channels merged. The yellow arrow indicates MKPs, the white arrow indicates MKS. MKPs are smaller, rounder and have less cytoplasm than MKs. MKPs express less CD42d (CD42d-low) than MKs (CD42d-high). The scale bar is 20 µm.



Figure 4.2: Example of a whole mount bone marrow staining. CD41 (green) labels MKs and MKPs, CD144 (grey) labels the vessels and HOECHST (blue) labels all nuclei. The red arrows point at the MKPs. The white bars show how the distances were measured for each cell. The scale bar is 20 μm.

4.4 Fluorescent Activated Cell Sorting

For the Fluorescent Activated Cell Sorting (FACS), C57BL/6J and pDC-DTR mice were used. First, after anesthetizing and sacrificing the mice, the femures were harvested. They were then flushed with FACS Buffer (PBS + 1% bovine serum albumin (BSA) using a 26G-needle. A 20G-needle was used to transform the flushed bone marrow into a single cell suspension. After centrifugation with 300 x g for 10 min at 4°C, the supernatant was carefully decanted thrown away. The pellet was then re-suspended in 100 µl PBS + 1%BSA. Antibodies were added in a concentration of 1:100 and the cells were incubated for 1 h at 4°C. After incubation, 5 ml PBS were added to the suspension to wash it. The suspension was centrifuged again (300 x g, 10 min, 4°C) and after decanting the supernatant, the pellet was re-suspended in 200 ml PBS. For the MK and MKP the following antibodies were used: CD41-FITC, CD42d-APC and propidium iodide (PI) for cell viability. The cells were analyzed with a Gallios Flow Cytometer (Beckman Coulter). The gating strategy is shown in Fig.4.3. For the ploidy, the same antibodies were used but the cells were re-suspended in 0,5 ml PBS (instead of 0,2 ml). 1% PFA was then added very slowly and the cells were incubated for 10 min at 4°C in the dark. After washing with 5ml PBS and centrifuging, 500 µl DNA staining buffer (PBS + 2 mM MgCl₂ + 0.05% Saponin + 0.01 mg/ml Propidium iodide + 10 U/ml RNAse A) was added and the cells were incubated overnight at 4°C in the dark. The following day, the cells were directly analyzed by FACS.



Figure 4.3: Gating Strategy for identifying MKs and MKPs. We used CD41-FITC (FL1) and CD42d-APC (FL6). MKs were defined as CD41+/CD42d high; MKPs were defined as CD41+/CD42d low.

5 Results

5.1 Characterization of MK/MKP numbers and pDC-MK/MKP interactions

To investigate and quantify the numbers of MKs and MKPs, the cell counting was done using sternum, tibia and femur bone marrow stainings. As shown in Fig.5.1, the numbers of MKs and MKPs in the sternum are comparable with the numbers of MKs and MKPs in long bones. Thus, numbers obtained by cell counting from long bones and sterna were pooled.

To have the intrinsic labelling for pDCs, a reporter mouse called SiglecH-GFP was used. SiglecH is a sialic acid-binding Ig-like lectin, that is expressed by pDCs and therefore, used as maker for these cells. The long bones and sternum were harvested and immunolabeled, showing the presence of interactions between pDCs and MKs, as shown in Fig.5.2. A significant number of MKs were in a very close spatial relationship with one or more pDCs. In some cases, the pDCs were located inside the MKs, as embedded in their cytoplasm. In order to quantify these observations, MKs and MKPs were separated into four groups: MKs/MKPs with no pDC interactions, MKs/MKPs interacting with 1 pDC, MKs/MKPs interacting with 2 pDCs and MKs/MKPs interacting with 3 or more pDCs. The cells were counted manually and the results displayed in Fig.5.3. The results show that in average, 31% of the MKs and 15% of the MKPs interact with at least one pDC in steady state Fig.5.4.



Figure 5.1: Characterization of MK and MKP numbers in the bone marrow. (a) MK numbers in the bone marrow. (b) MKP numbers in the bone marrow. The cells were counted in 3 tibias and 3 sterna of C57Bl/6J mice, with 10 images per bone. Statistics were done using the unpaired t-test. Mean + SD.



Figure 5.2: pDCs interacting with MKs in the bone marrow: representative whole mount bone marrow staining of a SiglecH-GFP tibia with 20x magnification. CD41 (red) labels MKs and MKPs, Siglec H-GFP (green) labels the pDCs and HOECHST (blue) labels all nuclei. (a) Overview with multiple MK/pDC interactions. (b) Close-up of one MK interacting with 3 pDCs. (c) Close-up of one MK interacting with 1 pDC. The scale bar is 20 µm.



Figure 5.3: Number of MK and MKP interacting with pDCs in steady state. The blue bar shows the number of MK with no interaction with pDCs. The yellow bar shows the number of MK interacting with 1 pDC. The orange bar shows the number of MK interacting with 2 pDCs. The black bar shows the number of MK interacting with 3 pDCs. (a) Number of MKs interacting with 1,2 or 3 pDCs (b) Number of MKPs interacting with 1,2, or 3 pDCs. The data is pooled from 3 mice, and obtained by manual quantification of whole mount bone marrow stainings, with 10 pictures per mouse. Mean + SD.



Figure 5.4: Percentage of MKs and MKPs interacting with pDCs in steady state. The blue section corresponds to no MK or MKP/pDC interaction, the yellow section corresponds to MK/MKP interactions with 1 pDC, the orange section corresponds to MK/MKP interactions with 2 pDCs and the red section corresponds to MK/MKP interactions with 3 pDCs. (a) Percentage of MKs interacting with 1,2 or 3 pDCs. (b) Percentage of MKPs interacting with 1,2 or 3 pDCs. The data is pooled from 3 mice, and obtained by manual quantification of whole mount bone marrow stainings, with 10 pictures per mouse.

5.2 MK and MKPs numbers under pDC depletion

A pDC-DTR mouse strain was used to study the numbers and distribution of MKs and MKPs after pDC depletion. pDCs were depleted by treating the mice with diphtheria toxin for 3 consecutive days. pDC depletion led to a decrease of MKs and MKP numbers in the bone marrow in the FACS analysis, however not significant in the unpaired t-test. The FACS results are displayed in Tab. 5.1 and plotted in Fig. 5.5. The experiment was repeated and the cell countings obtained manually with whole mount bone marrow immunofluorescence stainings with CD41 and CD42d. There was a significant decrease in

both MK and MKP numbers after pDC depletion in the manual cell countings. The results of the cell countings are displayed in Fig. 5.6.

Table 5.1: Quantification of MK and MKP frequency in steady state and under pDC depletion. The data is obtained by FACS analysis, using the gating strategy described in Materials and methods, see "4.4 FACS" CD41-FITC and CD42d-APC were used to label MKs (CD41+/CD42high) and MKPs (CD41+/CD42low).

Sample	Single cells	CD41+ (%)	CD41+ CD42high (%)	CD41+ CD42low (%)
Control 1	835763	0,10	0,09	0,01
Control 2	843586	$0,\!29$	$0,\!23$	0,06
Control 3	882990	$0,\!12$	$0,\!11$	0,01
pDC depletion 1	746676	$0,\!07$	0,04	0,03
pDC depletion 2	871717	0,09	0,08	0,01
pDC depletion 3	646372	0,04	0,03	0,01

When looking at the ploidy of the MKs, the FACS data showed that the MKs have a higher ploidy after pDC depletion than in steady state, see Fig. 5.7. As MKs become polyploid during their process of maturation, a cell with a high ploidy can be considered older that a cell with a low ploidy. Altogether, the experiments show that under pDC depletion, the MK number decreases, but the remaining MKs are older than under steady state.



Figure 5.5: Comparison of MK and MKP frequency under steady state and under pDC depletion. (a) Percentage of CD41+ CD42 high cells, equivalent to MKs (b) Percentage of CD41+ CD42 low cells, equivalent to MKPs. Data was obtained by FACS analysis with anti-CD41- and anti-CD42d antibodies, as described in Table 5.1. Statistics were done using the unpaired t-test. Mean + SD.



Figure 5.6: Comparison of MK and MKP numbers in steady state and after pDC Depletion. (a) Number of MKs. (b) Number of MKPs. Data obtained by manual quantification of whole mount bone marrow stainings with anti-CD41- and anti-CD42d-antibodies. The data is pooled from 3 mice with 10 images each. Statistics were done using the unpaired t-test. The p-value is 0.0035 for the MKs (**) and 0.0160 for MKPs (*). Mean + SD



Figure 5.7: MK ploidy in steady state and after pDC depletion. The data was obtained by FACS analysis from 3 control and 3 pDC depleted mice, stained with anti-CD41and anti-PI-antibodies. Statistics were done using multiple t-tests. The p-values were 0.002922 for 2N, 0.000291 for 4N, 0.001546 for 8N, 0.017327 for 16N, 0.000327 for 32N and 0.003058 for 64N. Mean + SD.

5.3 Distribution of MKs and MKPs under pDC depletion

In the bone marrow, most MKs are situated close to the vasculature, where they release (pro)platelets into the vessels. The whole mount bone marrow stainings showed that 65.6% of the MKs and 54.1% of the MKPs were situated at a distance of 0-5 µm from the vessels. The data was analyzed using multiple t-tests. After pDC depletion, the numbers of MKs and MKPs in close proximity to the vasculature decreased significantly. The fraction of the MKs situated 0-5 µm from the vessels decreased from 65.6% to 55.1%. The fraction of the MKPs situated 0-5 µm from the vessels did not change significantly, as displayed in Fig. 5.8 and Fig. 5.9.



Figure 5.8: Distances of MKs and MKPs to the vasculature in steady state and after 3d pDC depletion. (a) MK distances to the vasculature. (b) MKP distances to the vasculature. Data are drawn from 3 C57Bl/6J and 3 pDC-DTR mice and obtained by cell counting from whole mount bone marrow staining with anti-CD41-, anti-CD42d-, and anti-CD144-antibodies. Statistics were done using the unpaired t-test. The pvalues were <0.0001 for both MKs and MKPs. Mean + SD</p>



Figure 5.9: Distances of MKs and MKPs to the vasculature in steady state and after 3d pDC depletion in percent. (a) MK distances to the vasculature in percent.
(b) MKP distances to the vasculature in percent. Data are drawn from 3 C57Bl/6J and 3 pDC-DTR mice and obtained by cell counting from whole mount bone marrow staining with anti-CD42d-, and anti-CD144-antibodies. Statistics were done using the unpaired t-test. The p-value was <0.0001 for MKs. Mean + SD

These data show that the absence of pDCs has an impact on the differentiation of MKs, as well as their recruitment to the vasculature. As pDCs' main function is the secretion of IFN α upon activation [43], cell countings were also performed after IFN treatment in C57B6J mice.

5.4 Distribution of MKs and MKPs under IFNa treatment

The influence of IFN α on megakaryopoiesis has been controversially discussed. While some authors describe an inhibition of megakaryopoiesis following IFN α treatment, others claim that IFN α in fact has a stimulatory effect on megakaryopoiesis. For instance, Wang et al. described in 2000 that IFNa inhibits TPO-induced murine MK growth in vitro by inhibiting the phosphorylation of TPO-induced signaling proteins in mice [76]. Eight years later, Yamane et al. performed some CFU-assays with human MKs and observed that IFN α inhibits the maturation of the demarcation membrane system and thus inhibits platelet production, but did not affect endomitosis [77]. In this study, IFN α seems to affect mostly mature MKs, suppressing mRNA expression of transcription factors which regulate the late-stage megakaryopoiesis. Another study looked at the stem-like megakaryocytecommitted progenitors (SL-MKPs) and how inflammation induced emergency megakaryopoiesis results from the fast cellular maturation of SL-MKPs after mimicking infection with polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid (pI:C) treatment. More precisely, the administration of pI:C led to the upregulation of MK proteins in HSCs. The administration of $IFN\alpha$ had the same effect as the administration of pI:C [1]. This study supports the findings of Essers et al., who observed that IFNa leads to an activation of dormant HSCs in vivo. [78]. However, expression of IFN α R was not required for this effect. Another study came to a similar conclusion, claiming that $IFN\alpha$ can cause exhaustion of HSCs, whereas interferon regulatory factor-2 (IRF-2) suppresses IFNα-signaling and therefore preserves the HSC capacity [79]. In summary, IFN α seems to have an inhibitory effect on MKs, but a stimulatory effect on the stem cells, like SL-MKPs.

To investigate if IFN α affects the distribution of MKs and MKPs in the bone marrow, 3 C57BL/6J mice were treated for 4 hours with IFN α . When looking at the numbers and the distribution of MKs and MKPs compared to mice without such treatment, neither the numbers of MKs and MKPs, nor their distance to the vasculature showed any statistically

significant difference, see Fig. 5.10 and Fig. 5.11.



Figure 5.10: Number of MKs and MKPs in steady state and after 4h IFNα treatment.
(a) Number of MKs. (b) Number of MKPs. The data is pooled from 3 control and 3 treated mice, with 10 images per bone, and obtained by cell counting from whole mount bone marrow stainings with anti-CD41 and anti-CD42d antibodies. Statistics were done using the unpaired t-test. Mean + SD.



Figure 5.11: Distance of MKs and MKPs to the vasculature in steady state and after 4h IFNα treatment. (a) MK distances to the vasculature. (b) MKP distances to the vasculature. The data is pooled from 3 control and 3 treated mice and obtained by cell counting from whole mount bone marrow stainings with anti-CD41, CD42d, and CD144 antibodies. Statistics were done using the unpaired t-test. Mean + SD.

6 Discussion

6.1 Résumé

In this study, the interaction of pDCs with MKs/MKPs and its influence on the distribution of MKs/MKPs and megakaryopoiesis was investigated. For this purpose, FACS analysis and immunohistology were used to quantify the numbers of cells, interactions and spatial distribution of the cells in the bone marrow. Under pDC depletion however, the population of MK decreases and the remaining MKs are older than under steady state, translated by an increase in the ploidy of the MKs. In addition, the recruitment of MKs towards the vasculature was impaired in the absence of pDCs. However, the spatial distribution of MKs and MKPs did not change under IFNα treatment.

6.2 Discussion of the results

Our study showed that in average, 30% of MKs are in close contact with at least one pDC. The pDCs sometimes do not only co-localize, but are indulged in the cytoplasm of MKs. This event is called emperipolesis, which describes the situation when a living cell penetrates another living cell. MKs are known to engulf hematopoietic cells, yet this is only described within hematolymphoid disorders [80]. While it is well known that pDCs detect viral DNA and RNA, they also seem to be able to detect self DNA and RNA during apoptosis, which then leads to low IFN α responses [2]. Programmed cell death or apoptosis of MKs is well described [81]. Some authors even claim that apoptosis is necessary for proplatelet production [38], while others argument that platelet production can also occur independently of the apoptotic pathways [40]. Together with our finding of co-localization of pDCs and MKs, this indicates that pDCs in the bone marrow are likely to recognize apoptotic MKs.

A recent study by Lee-Sundlov *et al.* also focused on the interaction between pDCs and desialylated MKs. They demonstrated the recognition of desialylated MKs by pDC-like

immune cells in an ex-vivo coculture study[82]. Desialysation describes the loss of a sialic acid on cells which occurs, e.g., under acute infections and is associated with thrombocy-topenia. In their experiments, pDCs did inhibit thrombopoiesis via IFN-signaling. Sialic acids bind to Siglec Receptors (sialic acid binding immunoglobulin-like lectins), such as Siglec H on pDCs, to suppress immune cell activation [83]. Zhang *et al.* described an association between apoptotic platelets and GPIba desialylation [84]. GPIba is part of the GPIb-IX-V complex (CD42) and originates in mature MKs [85]. The binding of the Siglec H receptors on pDCs to unsialylated proteins in MKs, such as GPIba on the verge of apoptosis could be another possible explanation for the observed interactions in our study.

TPO is undoubtedly the main regulator of megakaryopoiesis [21]. However, a recent study in review showed that TPO does not influence the spatial distribution of MKPs [86]. When counting MKs and MKPs in whole mount bone marrow stainings after 3 days pDC depletion, a significant decrease in MK and MKP numbers was observed. This data could not be confirmed by FACS analyses, which can be explained by the low number of experiments done (n=3). Still, MKs were fewer in numbers and older after pDC depletion than in steady state. This indicates that pDCs are involved in the regulation of megakary-opoiesis. Additionally, the spatial distribution of MKs was impaired after pDC depletion. It is therefore likely that pDCs are a link between apoptotic MKs and replenishment of MKs in the vascular niche by regulating the recruitment of MKPs towards the vasculature. Thus, we hypothesize that when pDCs would encounter apoptotic MKs, they would release a signal which triggers the movement from MKPs towards the vasculature, where they would differentiate into MKs and replace their precursors. However, further studies which focus on apoptotic MKs are needed to prove this hypothesis.

In our study, we used four hours of systemic IFN α treatment to investigate the role of IFN α in the regulation of megakaryopoiesis. The time line of IFN α treatment here showed no significant change in the distribution of MKs and MKPs. However, IFN α is released locally by pDCs in the bone marrow. This locally specific distribution of IFN α is necessary to balance both the stimulative and inhibitory effects of IFN α on HSCs and MKs (see section 5.4). Here, we suggested a regulatory functions of pDCs in megakaryopoiesis through the release of IFN α . Further studies need to elucidate the role of IFN α on the spatial distribution of MKs.

Plasmacytoid dendritic cells are a type of immune cells which show an inflammatory response when encountering pathogens [2]. Thrombocytes are not only necessary for thrombus formation, but they also possess proinflammatory properties. For instance, they play an important role in leucocyte recruitment and immunothrombosis [87]. Therefore, pDC activation stimulating megakaryopoiesis is important from an immunogenic perspective. Indeed, platelet counts do increase under acute inflammation [88]. However, chronic pDCs activation leads to chronic inflammation with is associated with thrombocytopenia [89]. Chronic elevated levels of IFNs have been shown to exhaust HSCs and therefore leading to MK replenishment [79].

Our study brings significant evidence that pDCs are regulators of platelet production by controlling megakaryopoiesis. Thus, our findings can contribute to the development of a treatment against thrombocytopenia, which is a often found side effect of various treatments, e.g., of chemotherapy. The more regulators of megakaryopoiesis are being identified and the more target options for treatments are possible. In addition, the role of pDCs in megakaryopoiesis is crucial to understanding and preventing side effects from possible treatment options of systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE), like the depletion of pDCs [72].

6.3 Limitations of the study

This study identified pDCs as regulators for megakaryopoiesis. However, we only assumed that pDCs interact preferably with apoptotic MKs, based on the literature. Further studies will have to prove this hypothesis by using, e.g., the tunel essay or caspase 3 to label apoptotic cells. Due to the time consuming manual cell counting, the experiments were performed with only 3 mice per group. A higher number of experiments might be necessary to detect significant changes in MK or MKP numbers, e.g., after treatment with IFN α . Additionally, as mentioned above, systemic treatment with IFN α may not mimic the local secretion if IFN α by pDCs. Specific activation of pDCs could be a better way to determine whether IFN α has an effect on the spatial distribution of MKs/MKPs or not. The mice in our experiment were treated for 4h with IFN α . While there was no change in the distribution of MKs/MKPs after 4h, our study design did not detect the changes after a longer period of time. In further studies, it would be interesting to repeat the experiment after, e.g., 8 and 12 hours of IFN α treatment.

In our experiments, we used whole mount bone marrow staining for cell counting. The differentiation between MKs and MKPs was difficult sometimes, as the staining (CD42d-low vs. CD42d-high) failed to be 100% specific. For this reason, we also included other parameters like the size, the shape of the cell and the number of nuclei to differentiate

between MKs and MKPs. With a more specific and more consistent staining, the quantification of the results could have been more effective and less time consuming.

7 Summary and Outlook

7.1 Summary

This study focuses on the interplay between plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDCs) and megakaryocytes (MKs). MKs are rare and large cells in the bone marrow with the ability to produce platelets. The process of formation and differentiation of megakaryocyte progenitors (MKPs) is called megakaryopoiesis and is crucial to maintaining platelet homeostasis in the blood. During megakaryopoisis, MKs undergo endomitosis and become polyploid. In the process of maturation, MKPs migrate from the osteoblastic niche towards the vascular niche in the bone marrow, where they release platelets into the blood stream. pDCs are a type of dendritic cells which main role on the secretion of IFN α upon detection of viral DNA or RNA. This study aims to investigate the role of pDCs in megakaryopoiesis, more precisely on the spatial distribution of MKs and MKPs.

To achieve this goal, whole mount bone marrow stainings of genetically modified mice were used to observe not only the numbers of MKs and MKPs under different conditions, but also their spatial distribution. The whole mount bone marrow stainings allowed us to preserve the morphology of the bone marrow and thus measure precisely the distance between the MKs/MKPs and the vasculature. The spatial distribution on MKs and MKPs was measured under different conditions, e.g., under pDC depletion or under IFN α treatment. Fluorescence activated cell sorting (FACS) was used to confirm the countings of MKs/MKPs and to measure the ploidy of MKs.

The whole mount bone marrow stainings in steady state showed that approximately 31% of MKs and 15% of MKPs are co-localizing with at least one pDC. Under pDC depletion, both MK and MKP numbers decreased significantly. Additionally, the MK ploidy increased under pDC depletion, which indicates that MKs were in average older under pDC depletion than in steady state. Under pDC depletion, the spatial distribution of MKs and MKPs was impaired: the distance of MKs and MKPs towards the vasculature increased. Although the main role of pDCs is the secretion of IFN α , the numbers of MKs and MKPs,

as well as their spatial distribution was not impaired after IFN α treatment.

The co-localization of pDCs and MKs can be explained by either the recognition of apoptotic MKs, more precisely their DNA and RNA, by pDCs. Another possible explanation is the recognition of unsialylated proteins, such as GPIba on MKs by pDCs. Desialysation occurs, e.g., under acute infection. Megakarypoiesis is mainly regulated by thrombopoietin (TPO). However, as previously mentioned in the discussion, TPO does not influence the spatial distribution of MKPs. After pDC depletion, MKs were fewer in number, more polyploid and located in a greater distance to the vasculature than in steady state. This indicates that pDCs are involved in the regulation of megakaryopoiesis. Together with the knowledge that pDCs could recognize apoptotic MKs, it is likely that pDCs trigger resplenishment of MKPs from the osteoblastic niche towards the vasculature upon detection of DNA or desialysation. However, systemic treatment with IFN α did not influence the numbers or spatial distribution of MKs/MKPs. However, IFN α is known to have both stimulatory and inhibitory effects of haematopoietic stem cells (HSCs). A systemic treatment might not reflect the locally specific distribution of IFN α necessary to balance these two effects. Thus, future studies are necessary to elucidate the signaling between pDCs and MKPs.

7.2 Outlook

Although the influence of pDCs on megakaryocytes has been demonstrated, the exact mechanisms of signaling remain to be unclear. IFN α could be involved, however its secretion by pDCs is very time- and space-limited so more precise experiments should be conducted to investigate its effects on megakaryopoiesis.

As pDCs are involved in various chronic diseases, not last to mention Covid-19, which is associated with microthrombosis, it is crucial to understand the exact mechanisms in order to identify potential therapeutic targets. Concerning Covid-19, it would be interesting to see if and how the spatial distribution of MKs/MKPs changes under Covid-19 infection.

8 Zusammenfassung

Diese Arbeit befasst sich mit dem Zusammenspiel von plasmazytoiden dendritischen Zellen (pDCs) und Megakaryozyten (MKs). Megakaryozyten sind seltene und große Zellen im Knochenmark, welche Blutplättchen zu produzieren. Der Prozess der Bildung und Reifung von Megakaryozyten Vorläuferzellen (MKPs) wird als Megakaryopoese bezeichnet und ist für die Aufrechterhaltung der Thrombozytenhomöostase im Blut entscheidend. Während der Megakaryopoese durchlaufen die MKPs mehrere Endomitosen und werden polyploid, d.h. bekommen mehrere Zellkerne. Während des Reifungsprozesses wandern MKPs aus der osteoblastischen Nische in die vaskuläre Nische im Knochenmark, wo sie Blutplättchen in den Blutkreislauf abgeben. pDCs hingegen sind eine Art von dendritischen Zellen, deren Hauptaufgabe in der Sekretion von IFN α beim Nachweis von viraler DNA oder RNA besteht. Ziel dieser Studie war es, die Rolle der pDCs bei der Megakaryopoese, bzw. der räumlichen Verteilung von MKs und MKPs zu untersuchen.

Hierfür wurden gefärbte Knochenmarksschnitte von genetisch veränderten Mäusen verwendet, um nicht nur die Anzahl der MKs und MKPs unter verschiedenen Bedingungen, sondern auch ihre räumliche Verteilung zu beobachten. Die Knochenmarksschnitte ermöglichten es uns, die Morphologie des Knochenmarks zu erhalten und somit den Abstand zwischen den MKs/MKPs und dem Gefäßsystem genau zu messen. Die räumliche Verteilung von MKs und MKPs wurde unter verschiedenen Bedingungen gemessen, z. B. nach pDC-Depletion oder nach IFNα Behandlung. Fluoreszenz-aktivierte Zellsortierung (FACS) wurde zusätzlich verwendet, um die Zellzahlen zu quantifizieren und um die Ploidität der MKs zu messen.

Die gefärbten Knochenmarksschnitte ohne zuvor erfolgte Behandlung zeigten, dass etwa 31% der MKs und 15% der MKPs mit mindestens einem pDC kolokalisiert sind. Unter pDC-Depletion nahm die Anzahl sowohl der MK, als auch der MKP signifikant ab. Außerdem nahm die MK-Ploidität unter pDC-Depletion zu, was darauf hindeutet, dass die MKs unter pDC-Depletion im Durchschnitt älter waren als im Steady-State. Unter pDC-Depletion veränderte sich die räumliche Verteilung von MKs und MKPs: Der Abstand zwischen MKs/MKPs und den Gefäßen nahm zu. Obwohl die Hauptaufgabe der pDCs in der Sekretion von IFNα besteht, änderte sich weder die Anzahl der MKs und MKPs, noch ihre räumliche Verteilung nach Behandlung mit IFNα.

Die Ko-Lokalisierung von pDCs und MKs kann entweder durch die Erkennung apoptotischer MKs, genauer gesagt ihrer DNA und RNA, durch pDCs erklärt werden. Eine andere mögliche Erklärung ist die Erkennung von unsialvlierten Proteinen, wie GPIba auf MKs durch pDCs. Die Desialysierung erfolgt z. B. bei einer akuten Infektion. Die Megakaryopoese wird hauptsächlich durch Thrombopoietin (TPO) reguliert. TPO hat jedoch keinen Einfluss auf die räumliche Verteilung der MKPs. Nach einer Depletion der pDCs waren die MKs zahlenmäßig geringer, polyploider und in größerem Abstand zum Gefäßsystem angeordnet als im stationären Zustand. Dies deutet darauf hin, dass pDCs an der Regulierung der Megakaryopoese beteiligt sind. Zusammen mit dem Wissen, dass pDCs apoptotische MKs erkennen können, ist es wahrscheinlich, dass pDCs die Wiederauffüllung von MKPs aus der osteoblastischen Nische in Richtung Gefäßsystem stimulieren, wenn sie DNA oder Desialysierung erkennen. Eine systemische Behandlung mit IFN α hatte jedoch keinen Einfluss auf die Anzahl oder die räumliche Verteilung der MKs/MKPs. IFNa hat jedoch sowohl stimulierende als auch hemmende Wirkungen auf hämatopoetische Stammzellen (HSCs). Eine systemische Behandlung spiegelt möglicherweise nicht die lokal spezifische Verteilung von IFN α wider, die notwendig ist, um diese beiden Effekte auszugleichen. Daher sind künftige Studien erforderlich, um die Signalübertragung zwischen pDCs und MKPs zu klären.

Bibliography

- Haas, S. *et al.* Inflammation-induced emergency megakaryopoiesis driven by hematopoietic stem cell-like megakaryocyte progenitors. *Cell stem cell* 17, 422–434 (2015).
- [2] Gilliet, M., Cao, W. & Liu, Y.-J. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells: sensing nucleic acids in viral infection and autoimmune diseases. *Nature reviews. Immunology* 8, 594–606 (2008).
- [3] Noh, J.-Y. Megakaryopoiesis and platelet biology: Roles of transcription factors and emerging clinical implications. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* **22** (2021).
- [4] Geddis, A. E., Linden, H. M. & Kaushansky, K. Thrombopoietin: a pan-hematopoietic cytokine. *Cytokine & growth factor reviews* 13, 61–73 (2002).
- [5] Bluteau, D. et al. Regulation of megakaryocyte maturation and platelet formation. Journal of thrombosis and haemostasis : JTH 7 Suppl 1, 227–234 (2009).
- [6] Duerschmied, D., Bode, C. & Ahrens, I. Immune functions of platelets. Thrombosis and haemostasis 112, 678–691 (2014).
- [7] Engelmann, B. & Massberg, S. Thrombosis as an intravascular effector of innate immunity. *Nature Reviews Immunology* 13, 34–45 (2013).
- [8] Wright, J. H. The origin and nature of the blood plates. The Boston Medical and Surgical Journal 154, 643–645 (1906).
- [9] Patel, S. R., Hartwig, J. H. & Italiano, J. E. The biogenesis of platelets from megakaryocyte proplatelets. *The Journal of clinical investigation* **115**, 3348–3354 (2005).
- [10] Lefrançais, L. M. R., Emma. Platelet biogenesis in the lung circulation. *Physiology* (Bethesda, Md.) 34, 392–401 (2019).

- [11] Morrison, S. J. & Scadden, D. T. The bone marrow niche for haematopoietic stem cells. *Nature* 505, 327–334 (2014).
- [12] Geddis, A. E. & Kaushansky, K. Endomitotic megakaryocytes form a midzone in anaphase but have a deficiency in cleavage furrow formation. *Cell cycle (Georgetown, Tex.)* 5, 538–545 (2006).
- [13] Lordier, L. et al. Megakaryocyte endomitosis is a failure of late cytokinesis related to defects in the contractile ring and rho/rock signaling. Blood 112, 3164–3174 (2008).
- [14] Guo, H. et al. Scarb2/limp-2 regulates ifn production of plasmacytoid dendritic cells by mediating endosomal translocation of tlr9 and nuclear translocation of irf7. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950) 194, 4737–4749 (2015).
- [15] Yu, M. & Cantor, A. B. Megakaryopoiesis and thrombopoiesis: an update on cytokines and lineage surface markers. *Methods in molecular biology (Clifton, N.J.)* 788, 291– 303 (2012).
- [16] Sanjuan-Pla, A. *et al.* Platelet-biased stem cells reside at the apex of the haematopoietic stem-cell hierarchy. *Nature* 502, 232–236 (2013).
- [17] Pallotta, I., Lovett, M., Rice, W., Kaplan, D. L. & Balduini, A. Bone marrow osteoblastic niche: a new model to study physiological regulation of megakaryopoiesis. *PloS one* 4, e8359 (2009).
- [18] Becker, R. P. & de Bruyn, P. P. The transmural passage of blood cells into myeloid sinusoids and the entry of platelets into the sinusoidal circulation; a scanning electron microscopic investigation. *The American journal of anatomy* **145**, 183–205 (1976).
- [19] Fu, W. Megakaryopoietic islands in the bone marrow balance platelet production and maintain megakaryocyte homeostasis. Dissertation, Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München, Munich (08/2017).
- [20] Kaushansky, K. et al. Promotion of megakaryocyte progenitor expansion and differentiation by the c-mpl ligand thrombopoietin. Nature 369, 568–571 (1994).
- [21] Gurney, A. L., Carver-Moore, K., de Sauvage, F. J. & Moore, M. W. Thrombocytopenia in c-mpl-deficient mice. *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 265, 1445–1447 (1994).

- [22] Emmons, R. V. et al. Human thrombopoietin levels are high when thrombocytopenia is due to megakaryocyte deficiency and low when due to increased platelet destruction. Blood 87, 4068–4071 (1996).
- [23] Broudy, V. C., Lin, N. L. & Kaushansky, K. Thrombopoietin (c-mpl ligand) acts synergistically with erythropoietin, stem cell factor, and interleukin-11 to enhance murine megakaryocyte colony growth and increases megakaryocyte ploidy in vitro. *Blood* 85, 1719–1726 (1995).
- [24] de Graaf, C. A. & Metcalf, D. Thrombopoietin and hematopoietic stem cells. Cell cycle (Georgetown, Tex.) 10, 1582–1589 (2011).
- [25] Ito, T., Ishida, Y., Kashiwagi, R. & Kuriya, S. Recombinant human c-mpl ligand is not a direct stimulator of proplatelet formation in mature human megakaryocytes. *British journal of haematology* 94, 387–390 (1996).
- [26] Hodohara, K., Fujii, N., Yamamoto, N. & Kaushansky, K. Stromal cell-derived factor-1 (sdf-1) acts together with thrombopoietin to enhance the development of megakaryocytic progenitor cells (cfu-mk). *Blood* **95**, 769–775 (2000).
- [27] Avecilla, S. T. et al. Chemokine-mediated interaction of hematopoietic progenitors with the bone marrow vascular niche is required for thrombopoiesis. Nature medicine 10, 64–71 (2004).
- [28] Dhanjal, T. S. et al. A novel role for pecam-1 in megakaryocytokinesis and recovery of platelet counts in thrombocytopenic mice. Blood 109, 4237–4244 (2007).
- [29] Rivière, C. et al. Phenotypic and functional evidence for the expression of cxcr4 receptor during megakaryocytopoiesis. Blood 93, 1511–1523 (1999).
- [30] Berthebaud, M. et al. Rgs16 is a negative regulator of sdf-1-cxcr4 signaling in megakaryocytes. Blood 106, 2962–2968 (2005).
- [31] Wysoczynski, M., Kucia, M., Ratajczak, J. & Ratajczak, M. Z. Cleavage fragments of the third complement component (c3) enhance stromal derived factor-1 (sdf-1)mediated platelet production during reactive postbleeding thrombocytosis. *Leukemia* 21, 973–982 (2007).

- [32] Junt, T. et al. Dynamic visualization of thrombopoiesis within bone marrow. Science (New York, N.Y.) **317**, 1767–1770 (2007).
- [33] Larson, M. K. & Watson, S. P. Regulation of proplatelet formation and platelet release by integrin alpha iib beta3. *Blood* 108, 1509–1514 (2006).
- [34] Balduini, A. et al. Adhesive receptors, extracellular proteins and myosin iia orchestrate proplatelet formation by human megakaryocytes. Journal of thrombosis and haemostasis : JTH 6, 1900–1907 (2008).
- [35] Italiano, J. E. Unraveling mechanisms that control platelet production. Seminars in Thrombosis and Hemostasis 39, 15–24 (2013).
- [36] Freson, K. et al. The tubb1 q43p functional polymorphism reduces the risk of cardiovascular disease in men by modulating platelet function and structure. Blood 106, 2356–2362 (2005).
- [37] Machlus, K. R., Thon, J. N. & Italiano, J. E. Interpreting the developmental dance of the megakaryocyte: a review of the cellular and molecular processes mediating platelet formation. *British journal of haematology* 165, 227–236 (2014).
- [38] Clarke, M. C. H., Savill, J., Jones, D. B., Noble, B. S. & Brown, S. B. Compartmentalized megakaryocyte death generates functional platelets committed to caspaseindependent death. *The Journal of cell biology* 160, 577–587 (2003).
- [39] Kile, B. T. The role of apoptosis in megakaryocytes and platelets. British journal of haematology 165, 217–226 (2014).
- [40] Josefsson, E. C. *et al.* Platelet production proceeds independently of the intrinsic and extrinsic apoptosis pathways. *Nature Communications* **5**, 3455 (2014).
- [41] Lennert, K. & Remmele, W. Karyometrische untersuchungen an lymphknotenzellen des menschen. i. germinoblasten, lymphoblasten und lymphozyten. Acta haematologica 19, 99–113 (1958).
- [42] Asselin-Paturel, C. *et al.* Mouse type i ifn-producing cells are immature apcs with plasmacytoid morphology. *Nature immunology* **2**, 1144–1150 (2001).
- [43] O'Brien, M., Manches, O. & Bhardwaj, N. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells in hiv infection. Advances in experimental medicine and biology 762, 71–107 (2013).

- [44] Onai, N. et al. A clonogenic progenitor with prominent plasmacytoid dendritic cell developmental potential. *Immunity* 38, 943–957 (2013).
- [45] Cisse, B. et al. Transcription factor e2-2 is an essential and specific regulator of plasmacytoid dendritic cell development. Cell 135, 37–48 (2008).
- [46] Shigematsu, H. et al. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells activate lymphoid-specific genetic programs irrespective of their cellular origin. Immunity 21, 43–53 (2004).
- [47] Schmid, M. A., Kingston, D., Boddupalli, S. & Manz, M. G. Instructive cytokine signals in dendritic cell lineage commitment. *Immunological reviews* 234, 32–44 (2010).
- [48] Chen, Y.-L. et al. A type i ifn-flt3 ligand axis augments plasmacytoid dendritic cell development from common lymphoid progenitors. The Journal of experimental medicine 210, 2515–2522 (2013).
- [49] Fancke, B., Suter, M., Hochrein, H. & O'Keeffe, M. M-csf: a novel plasmacytoid and conventional dendritic cell poietin. *Blood* 111, 150–159 (2008).
- [50] Gilliet, M. et al. The development of murine plasmacytoid dendritic cell precursors is differentially regulated by flt3-ligand and granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor. The Journal of experimental medicine 195, 953–958 (2002).
- [51] Treilleux, I. et al. Dendritic cell infiltration and prognosis of early stage breast cancer. Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research 10, 7466–7474 (2004).
- [52] Flores, M. et al. Fcγriib prevents inflammatory type i ifn production from plasmacytoid dendritic cells during a viral memory response. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950) 194, 4240–4250 (2015).
- [53] Båve, U. et al. Fc gamma riia is expressed on natural ifn-alpha-producing cells (plasmacytoid dendritic cells) and is required for the ifn-alpha production induced by apoptotic cells combined with lupus igg. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950) 171, 3296–3302 (2003).
- [54] Honda, K. et al. Spatiotemporal regulation of myd88-irf-7 signalling for robust type-i interferon induction. Nature 434, 1035–1040 (2005).

- [55] Guiducci, C. et al. Properties regulating the nature of the plasmacytoid dendritic cell response to toll-like receptor 9 activation. The Journal of experimental medicine 203, 1999–2008 (2006).
- [56] Koblansky, A. A. *et al.* Recognition of profilin by toll-like receptor 12 is critical for host resistance to toxoplasma gondii. *Immunity* 38, 119–130 (2013).
- [57] Dasgupta, S., Erturk-Hasdemir, D., Ochoa-Reparaz, J., Reinecker, H.-C. & Kasper, D. L. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells mediate anti-inflammatory responses to a gut commensal molecule via both innate and adaptive mechanisms. *Cell host & microbe* 15, 413–423 (2014).
- [58] Kumagai, Y. et al. Cutting edge: Tlr-dependent viral recognition along with type i ifn positive feedback signaling masks the requirement of viral replication for ifn-alpha production in plasmacytoid dendritic cells. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950) 182, 3960–3964 (2009).
- [59] Wang, Y., Swiecki, M., McCartney, S. A. & Colonna, M. dsrna sensors and plasmacytoid dendritic cells in host defense and autoimmunity. *Immunological reviews* 243, 74–90 (2011).
- [60] Kumagai, Y. *et al.* Alveolar macrophages are the primary interferon-alpha producer in pulmonary infection with rna viruses. *Immunity* **27**, 240–252 (2007).
- [61] Davidson, S., Crotta, S., McCabe, T. M. & Wack, A. Pathogenic potential of interferon αβ in acute influenza infection. *Nature communications* 5, 3864 (2014).
- [62] Villadangos, J. A. & Young, L. Antigen-presentation properties of plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *Immunity* 29, 352–361 (2008).
- [63] Reizis, B., Bunin, A., Ghosh, H. S., Lewis, K. L. & Sisirak, V. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells: recent progress and open questions. *Annual review of immunology* 29, 163–183 (2011).
- [64] Chappell, C. P. et al. Targeting antigens through blood dendritic cell antigen 2 on plasmacytoid dendritic cells promotes immunologic tolerance. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950) 192, 5789–5801 (2014).

- [65] Loschko, J. et al. Antigen delivery to plasmacytoid dendritic cells via bst2 induces protective t cell-mediated immunity. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950) 186, 6718–6725 (2011).
- [66] Ganguly, D., Haak, S., Sisirak, V. & Reizis, B. The role of dendritic cells in autoimmunity. *Nature reviews. Immunology* 13, 566–577 (2013).
- [67] Sisirak, V. et al. Genetic evidence for the role of plasmacytoid dendritic cells in systemic lupus erythematosus. The Journal of experimental medicine 211, 1969–1976 (2014).
- [68] Lande, R. et al. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells sense self-dna coupled with antimicrobial peptide. Nature 449, 564–569 (2007).
- [69] Lande, R. *et al.* Cationic antimicrobial peptides in psoriatic skin cooperate to break innate tolerance to self-dna. *European journal of immunology* **45**, 203–213 (2015).
- [70] Ganguly, D. et al. Self-rna-antimicrobial peptide complexes activate human dendritic cells through thr7 and thr8. The Journal of experimental medicine 206, 1983–1994 (2009).
- [71] Diana, J. et al. Crosstalk between neutrophils, b-1a cells and plasmacytoid dendritic cells initiates autoimmune diabetes. Nature medicine 19, 65–73 (2013).
- [72] Rowland, S. L. et al. Early, transient depletion of plasmacytoid dendritic cells ameliorates autoimmunity in a lupus model. The Journal of experimental medicine 211, 1977–1991 (2014).
- [73] Berry, M. P. R. et al. An interferon-inducible neutrophil-driven blood transcriptional signature in human tuberculosis. Nature 466, 973–977 (2010).
- [74] Labidi-Galy, S. I. et al. Quantitative and functional alterations of plasmacytoid dendritic cells contribute to immune tolerance in ovarian cancer. Cancer research 71, 5423–5434 (2011).
- [75] Fu, C., Zhou, L., Mi, Q.-S. & Jiang, A. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells and cancer immunotherapy. *Cells* 11, 2 (2022).

- [76] Wang, Q., Miyakawa, Y., Fox, N. & Kaushansky, K. Interferon-alpha directly represses megakaryopoiesis by inhibiting thrombopoietin-induced signaling through induction of socs-1. *Blood* 96, 2093–2099 (2000).
- [77] Yamane, A. et al. Interferon-alpha 2b-induced thrombocytopenia is caused by inhibition of platelet production but not proliferation and endomitosis in human megakaryocytes. Blood 112, 542–550 (2008).
- [78] Essers, M. A. G. *et al.* Ifnalpha activates dormant haematopoietic stem cells in vivo. *Nature* 458, 904–908 (2009).
- [79] Sato, T. et al. Interferon regulatory factor-2 protects quiescent hematopoietic stem cells from type i interferon-dependent exhaustion. Nature medicine 15, 696–700 (2009).
- [80] Rastogi, V., Sharma, R., Misra, S. R., Yadav, L. & Sharma, V. Emperipolesis a review. Journal of clinical and diagnostic research : JCDR 8, ZM01-2 (2014).
- [81] McArthur, K., Chappaz, S. & Kile, B. T. Apoptosis in megakaryocytes and platelets: the life and death of a lineage. *Blood* 131, 605–610 (2018).
- [82] Lee-Sundlov, M. M. et al. Immune cells surveil aberrantly sialylated o-glycans on megakaryocytes to regulate platelet count. Blood 138, 2408–2424 (2021).
- [83] Varki, A. Sialic acids in human health and disease. Trends in molecular medicine 14, 351–360 (2008).
- [84] Zhang, X.-H. et al. Desiallylation is associated with apoptosis and phagocytosis of platelets in patients with prolonged isolated thrombocytopenia after allo-hsct. Journal of hematology & oncology 8, 116 (2015).
- [85] Lepage, A. et al. The alpha(iib)beta(3) integrin and gpib-v-ix complex identify distinct stages in the maturation of cd34(+) cord blood cells to megakaryocytes. Blood 96, 4169–4177 (2000).
- [86] Gaertner, F. *et al.* Plasmacytoid dendritic cells regulate megakaryocyte and platelet homeostasis: in review. *Nature* (2021).
- [87] Gaertner, F. & Massberg, S. Patrolling the vascular borders: platelets in immunity to infection and cancer. *Nature Reviews Immunology* 19, 747–760 (2019).

- [88] Vora, A. J. & Lilleyman, J. S. Secondary thrombocytosis. Archives of Disease in Childhood 68, 88–90 (1993).
- [89] Barrat, F. J. & Su, L. A pathogenic role of plasmacytoid dendritic cells in autoimmunity and chronic viral infection. *The Journal of experimental medicine* **216**, 1974–1985 (2019).

Acknowledgements

My deepest gratitude goes towards Hellen Ishikawa-Ankerhold, my direkt supervisor during this project. Her expertise, kindness and patience are unparalleled.

The work in the laboratory would not have been half as fruitful without Dominic van den Heuvel, who can fix any technical issue. I am equally greateful towards "Steve" Zhe Zhang, who helped us in numerous occasions and was always keen to share his knowledge about FACS. Anna Titova and Michael Lorenz were also indispensable in the laboratory to help with antibody issues or staining methods. Thanks also to Guo Chenglong, who helped especially in the last years with the sample preparation and imaging.

This project would not have been possible without the help from Susanne Stutte and her expertise about pDCs and pDC depletion. In the same way, Florian Gärtners expertise about MKs was indispensable for this work. Although I never met her, I also thank Wenwen Fu for all her work which was the cornerstone to this project.

My gratitude also goes towards Christian Schulz and Steffen Massberg, without whose support this project would not have existed.

Last, but not least, I have to thank my husband, Tobi, for my personal LaTeX customer service, for his meticulously detailed comments and for his regular reminders about my unfinished thesis. Look what you made me do.